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THE SCHOOLS AT CEDAR BAYOU?

Baytown, Harris County, Texas
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I. CONTEXT®

About 1839, Sarah Penn started a Sunday school in Dunman's settlement on the San
Jacinto River where Crosby is located today and sometime before 1850 her school had become a
weekday school® known as the Manayunk school. It may have served as a model’ for the first
known school in the Baytown area. The Cedar Bayou School House shared a building with the
Methodist church at Midway, near today’s ExxonMobil docks,® and the school house was used
by Precinct 8 as a voting place for the 1850 through 1852 elections.? The precinct extended from
Cedar Bayou on the Harris and Chambers county line to the San Jacinto River and north to the
Houston to Liberty Road. All of the precinct’s voting places, from the time it was established in
1843 through 1862,'* were located within two miles of Midway, the center of population, and
they all provided easy access by boat, the primary means of transportation at the time. By 1854,
there were between 20 and 30 common schools™ and 14 Sunday schools in Harris County,** and
as evidenced from Mrs. Penn's Manayunk school, some of the Sunday schools were also weekday
schools. This was almost certainly the case with the Cedar Bayou school, as indicated by the
numerous references to the Cedar Bayou Sunday school in the Lynchburg Circuit Quarterly
Conference minutes and the improbability that County Commissioners would name a Sunday
school as an official voting place.

In September, 1854, a devastating hurricane hit just south of Houston, pushing a storm
surge up the San Jacinto River that inundated the area. Steamboats were left stranded up to three-
quarters of a mile from the river and all the bridges in Houston were washed away. In Houston,
the water was reported to have been seven feet higher than had ever been known.'* This storm
destroyed the Cedar Bayou school and church as well as the church at Lynchburg, both located
right on the river. The May 5, 1855 Methodist Quarterly Conference minutes reported that

building committees were appointed for both the Cedar Bayou and Lynchburg churches.
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In 1854, two million dollars from the Compromise of 1850 was designated to provide
for public schools. The Scholastic Census taken in 1855 was a list of school age children and
their parents, rather than a list of students who actually attended school. The school districts were
established using precinct boundaries™ and the Galveston Bay and Cedar Bayou District No. 8

contains names of 58 children in 26 families.*’

There seems to have been no weekday school in the Baytown area after the hurricane
until 1859 when a school, run by Mr. and Mrs. Kemp,'® was established on John L. Bryan’s
property. Dr. Ashbel Smith,*® who lived in the neighborhood, was appointed as a Harris County
School Examiner® in 1858 and announced that the school would open in 1859.% It was located
at the east end of today’s Missouri Street on the west side of Goose Creek stream where W.C.
Britton Park is located today.?” Almost all the white children in the 1860 census had attended
school within the year.?® It was named Harmony Grove and also had a Sunday school
component. In the same year, a post office was established at “Baytown,” with Simon Hageman
as postmaster.* In 1860, one of the teachers in the school was 18-year-old Miss Julia C.
Woodruff, ?®> who boarded with her half-sister, Mary Jones.?® Julia Woodruff was the teacher who
accompanied the Harmony Grove Sunday school to a May Day celebration in Houston attended
by Sunday schools from Houston, Galveston, Lynchburg, and several other cities and towns.?’ In
1861, the "Harmony Grove School House™ was named as a reference point when Harris County
Commissioners laid out the road from Lynchburg to Shearn (the town was later renamed Cedar
Bayou).?

Rev. Christopher C. Preston® had run successful boarding schools in Alabama,*
Mississippi,®* and Louisiana® since at least 1839. In mid-1863, he moved to Baytown*® where he
established an institution called Baytown High School® and also began teaching neighborhood
children at the Harmony Grove school house.* In 1864, Preston purchased the 205-acre property
from Dr. John L. Bryan when the Bryan family returned to Houston. The Harmony Grove school
house as well as the two-story brick residence was located on the Bryan homestead that Preston
had not bought but had use of.*® (The 25-acre homestead property remained with the Bryan
family until Mary Ann Bryan sold it to the Orphan's Home in 1871.%") Preston soon renamed the
high school as Bayland® and by 1866 the Harmony Grove school house was being used by the

Bayland Home.*
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In September 1866, the "Orphan's Home at Bayland" was chartered,* situated on the
property that Preston** had purchased from John L. Bryan in 1864, as well as the 25-acre

homestead.

The obituary of Mary Jones*” states that her children attended school at Galveston and
then attended school "under Mr. & Mrs. Kemp who were in turn succeeded by Mr. Preston who
had a flourishing school there for some years." It mentions no other school that they attended.*
Her youngest son, Cromwell Anson Jones, was the most accomplished alumnus of the Harmony
Grove school, and it's reasonable to assume he also attended Bayland High School.** In 1866, at
the age of 15, he taught at the Bayland school.”® Later, from 1876 to 1882, he served as Harris

47

County Judge.“® The Bayland school had previously admitted “pay scholars,"*" and records show

that it was a public school from 1876 through 1887*° when the home closed at this location and

moved to Houston.

At the end of the Civil War, Thomas Gaillard moved with his family to Goose Creek™
from his native Mississippi. In 1868 or 1869 his oldest daughter, Linna Gaillard, opened a school
on the family property in a building that had been used as a barracks®* for Confederate troops
manning a cannon at the mouth of Goose Creek.>? This school closed by 1876.

There are a number of common misconceptions about mid-nineteenth century schools in
Baytown, several of which appear in a 1968 Baytown Sun article by Bonnie Hazel Martin,
quoted below.*®

The Rise of Area Schools. [A] The Lynchburg School near the present Lynchburg
Ferry was begun about 1820 and continued to teach the youth of the community
until 1854. In that year a severe hurricane destroyed the one room school
building. Children from Scott’s Settlement commuted to school by oxcart, sled or
horseback depending on the number to be transported. [B] Scott’s Settlement was
located north and west of the point where North Main Street intersects Cedar
Bayou-Lynchburg Road... [C] in 1854, the people of Scott’s Settlement erected a
one-room log house for school purposes. This school was opened about 1855. ...
[D] Louis, Henry and Melissa Whiting, children of Dr. Harvey Whiting, attended
this school. ... [E] In the late 1840s school was taught in the Methodist Church
which was a one-room log structure. It was located on the present site of the
Cedar Bayou Methodist Church. [F] Classes were taught in the Baptist church
located east of the Cedar Bayou Masonic Lodge. ...”

Comments and errata for the above article are identified below by letters within the
original text.
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[A] Nathaniel Lynch was one of the first settlers in the area, arriving in 1822°* and the
earliest documented school in the area was started in 1837 at Zavalla Point near Lynch's Ferry

with Wm H. Hastings as the teacher.”® It is unknown how long this school continued.

[B] The first road to the Scott’s settlement location described by Mrs. Martin was laid out
about 1868.%® About that time, James W. Scott established a settlement named Fairview west of
Barkaloo Road about halfway between Cedar Bayou-Lynchburg Road and Archer Road.”” A
school situated in the Benjamin Barrow land grant on the east side of today’s Barkaloo Road
opposite Fairview, just south of today's airport,”® was started there sometime around 1871. It was
a one-room building of rough lumber sawed at Pound's sawmill and Mrs. Winnie Magee

Yarrington was one of the teachers.”

[C] A school had existed before 1850 near the former town of Louisville, established by
the heirs of William Scott.®® It was destroyed in 1854.

[D] Lewis, Henry, and Melissa Whiting were 31, 28, and 24 years old in 1854, much too
old to have attended any Texas school. However, the 1854 Scholastic Census for Galveston Bay
and Cedar Bayou District No. 8 does include Charles and Clarissa Brooks, who were
grandchildren of Harvey Whiting by his daughter, Francis Jane,”* who was married to Gilbert
Brooks.?? After Francis Jane died in 1849, Gilbert Brooks married her younger sister, Melissa
Peck Whiting. They had a daughter named Mary Melissa (Mollie) Brooks, (1865-1945), whose
obituary stated that she attended school at Fairview and Goose Creek.®® Her age indicates that
she may have attended Fairview during its entire lifetime from 1871 to 1875. The 1876
Director's School Record for Harris County lists schools at Goose Creek, Cedar Bayou, and
Lynchburg, but not Fairview, suggesting that the Fairview School was destroyed in the 1875

hurricane.®

[E] The one-room log structure described was the Methodist parsonage in the Christian
Smith land grant. It may have been used as a Sunday school but was not a common school. It
was located on the present site of the Cedar Bayou Methodist Church, but a church did not exist
there before 1858. Richard Hogue Dickson (1831-1931) stated that when he was nineteen [in
1850] he attended class under the tutelage of his Methodist preacher brother-in-law in a “small,
one-roomed log cabin on the present site of the Cedar Bayou cemetery.”® However this was the

Methodist parsonage where his brother-in-law lived and not what was, at the time, called the
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Cedar Bayou school house.

[F] The article seems to indicate that the Baptist church was used for classes in the late
1840s. Originally founded in Chambers County in 1860, that church was moved to Harris
County in 1877% and was located just north of the Masonic Lodge on today's Ferry Road.®’

Gilbert Brooks was married to two of Harvey Whiting’s daughters at different times. His
children attended school at two different places, both of which were “Scott’s Settlements,” that
were started by two different families named Scott, and both schools were probably destroyed by
hurricanes. There are too many similar but different threads to keep the record straight through

oral tradition.

There seems to have been a short-lived school at the Christian Smith league in 1860° but
it, along with many schools throughout the South, closed during the Civil War. Further evidence
that a school did not exist at Christian Smith before 1873 was provided by photographer R.O.
Harris in a report he made to a Houston newspaper;®®

“Cedar Bayou P. O., Harris Co., Tex. July, 1873... on the west bank, about four

miles above its mouth ... at which point is two well-stocked stores, one steam saw

and grist mill, one Methodist church and one Baptist church and a Masonic Hall

nearby, and there will also soon be on foot an effort for the purpose of raising a
subscription for building a Union church and school-house.”

However, it is clear from the written history of Cedar Bayou Masonic Lodge No. 321 that
the Baptist church and Masonic Hall (one building, with the Masonic Hall on the second floor)

were on the east side of Cedar Bayou until 1876.7

In a 1930 interview, Cedar Bayou poet John Peter Sjolander stated, “Sixty years ago
when I came to Cedar Bayou [in 1871], people seemed to care very little for books. In fact, at
times | wondered if they had ever heard of a book.”™ And in a 1938 interview, he repeated, “I
soon returned to Texas and settled on this farm 60 years ago. Then, there were no schools and

few books.”"?

In 1858, a new Methodist church was built on Cedar Bayou in the Christian Smith
league.” In 1860, Seth Cary had platted a town on the west bank of Cedar Bayou near the new
church and named it Shearn.” Several lots were sold and when the town began to prosper,

Charles llfrey opened a post office in October 1870 and the town of Shearn became the town of
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Cedar Bayou.” The Methodist church at Cedar Bayou had operated a Sunday school from the

time it was built, but a common school did not exist in the Christian Smith league until 1876.

Il. OVERVIEW

In 1876, Texas voters approved a new constitution. The Common School Districts that
had previously been established along Precinct boundaries were replaced by what were called
“School Communities.” The requirements for a School Community consisted of having a
building in which to conduct classes, a list of any number of students between the ages of 8 and
14, and a board of trustees consisting of three members. Attendance by the students was not
compulsory, although attendance was kept in a day book by the teacher as a requirement for her
pay, which was based on the number of students in class.”® Other parts of the school law would

cause strife for decades to come.

"Sec.15. The available public free school fund shall be appropriated in each
county for the education alike of white and colored children, and each race shall
receive its just pro rata, as far as practicable, in each county, according to the
number of children of each race within scholastic age.

Sec. 16. No school in which sectarian religion is taught shall be entitled to any
portion of the available public school fund, nor shall any form of religion be
taught in any public free school in this State. ...

Sec. 19. All children between the ages of eight and fourteen years shall be entitled
to the benefit of the available free school fund, under this act, without regard to
race or color.

Sec. 54. In no case shall any school, consisting partly of white and partly of
colored children, receive any aid from the available school fund, but the two races
shall always be taught in separate public free schools."

Thirty-five School Communities were established in Harris County. The three School
Communities in the Baytown area were Cedar Bayou No. 5, Goose Creek No. 9, and Lynchburg
No. 24. Mary Jones’ son, Cromwell Anson Jones, was the elected County Judge of Harris County
and all the county’s schools came under his jurisdiction. Ashbel Smith”” was appointed to the
Harris County Board of School Examiners”® and the board in turn named him as County

Superintendent.”

The Schools at Cedar Bayou 6 © Chuck Chandler
May 3, 2023 Harris County Historical Commission


https://texashistory.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metapth6731/m1/1039/
https://texashistory.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metapth6731/m1/1039/
https://texashistory.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metapth6731/m1/1040/
https://texashistory.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metapth6731/m1/1047/

The first week-day school actually situated in or near the town of Cedar Bayou began on
November 9, 1876, when "Seth Cary, C.J. Massey and others, parents and guardians," filed a
petition to establish the school. The school designated as "Cedar Bayou School Community No.
5" was established under the new Texas Constitution with C.F. Ilfrey, W.C. Scott, and C.M.
Milam appointed as trustees.® The sum of $133.95 was apportioned by Harris County to operate
the school and a list of students was submitted along with the petition.81 The list has been lost,
but Harris County allocated $2.85 per student per year,?” indicating there were 47 students who
could have been enrolled in the first class. This was the first public school in the Christian Smith
league and they met on the first floor of the Masonic Lodge.®® The two-story Masonic Lodge
building adjacent to the Methodist Church was built with the specific intention that the ground
floor be used for school. A Lodge resolution, dated April 8, 1876, anticipating the opening of the
new building in May, stated "That the Public Common School shall be permitted to occupy the
new school room as soon as the building committee sees proper. And the teacher shall be held
responsible for the care of the room."®* Classes may have also been held in the Baptist Church,®
located on Ferry Road just north of the Masonic Lodge. In 1881 another Lodge resolution was
adopted that the school room under the Lodge should be used for educational purposes only and

by 1883, the student population was up to 74.%

In 1884, the Texas legislature completely rewrote the school law. Among the provisions
of the new law were:

Sec. 3. The school fund will be sufficient to support the schools for at least six

months per year.

Sec. 5. Scholastic age is “over eight years of age and under sixteen years of age.”

Sec. 10. School will be taught 5 days a week, at least 7 hours a day, at least 20 days a
month — but number of months per year is not stated.

While the 1876 law allowed citizens to establish their own school communities, the 1884
school law directed the Commissioners Court of most counties (including Harris, but not
Chambers) to subdivide the county into convenient school districts.?” Exempted counties
including Chambers would continue to create school communities as needed upon petition from
a group of parents.® In eastern Harris County, School District No. 15 was established on the east
side of Goose Creek, extending north to Wallisville Road, east to Cedar Bayou, down the stream
and along the shoreline to the place of beginning.®® There were initially three schools (two white
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and one Colored) in this district that was created in 1884: Cedar Bayou School 1 (W), Goose
Creek School 2 (W), and School 3 (C) for Black children.”® School 3 (C) only ran from 1886 to
1889 and its location is as yet unknown.

In 1886, the Galveston Daily News reported about School District 15, "attendance was
pretty regular but sometimes a school was broken up by the children refusing to go and the
parents disapprove [sic] of the teacher enforcing obedience. One school-house in particular has
gained the name of 'the battleground' from this cause."*!

School District 15 in Harris County opened the 1889 school year with 66 students
enrolled out of a total of 93 school age children in the district.” Two months later, enroliment
was up to 91, and an election was scheduled to consider levying a school tax in District 15.%
Even though compulsory attendance was not yet a law in Texas, in 1890, the Cedar Bayou
school boasted a 90 percent attendance rate.**

In 1893,%® Cedar Bayou School District 10 was formed in Chambers County.® A Colored
public school was opened in Mt. Olive Baptist church,” located off Highway 146 just north of

Cedar Bayou. Black children from Harris County could attend this school®®

and Victoria Taylor
Walker (1905-2002)%° remembered attending classes here in 1909 as a four-year-old. The teacher
was Leah Cooper, who also taught at other schools in Chambers County.

In 1897 when a new roof was needed on the Masonic Lodge, a committee of the Lodge
visited the patrons of the school who were not Masons to see if they would like to contribute
something to pay for repairs. The public had had free use of the building for twenty years but
only one dollar was collected, which the Lodge returned. This free use of the lower story
continued as a community service by the Lodge for thirty-five years. Even the home-made
double desks were furnished by the Lodge.’® The first teacher in the Masonic Lodge was Miss
Linna Gaillard (1848-1922),"* who had run a school on Goose Creek in 1868 or 1869.'% She
later married Doctor Nicholas Schilling. Later teachers were Mr. and Mrs. C. J. Massey and Miss

Pink Ellisor (1877-1962).2%

The student population'® had grown to 109 by 1907.2% In 1909, Harris County School
Superintendent L.L. Pugh made a report to the Houston Post, stating "Cedar Bayou is located in
the extreme south end of the county, and has two schools and three teachers. The school
buildings [sic] in this beautiful little town belong to the Masonic order and through their
kindness we maintain school in it. The Ellis League school is a small one-room building and has

The Schools at Cedar Bayou 8 © Chuck Chandler
May 3, 2023 Harris County Historical Commission



one teacher. This district has a local tax to supplement the State funds in maintaining their
schools."*%®

In 1911, voters in School District 15 approved a school bond of $8,000 to build two brick
school houses,'®” $6,000 for a two-story school at Cedar Bayou'® and $2,000 for a one-story
school in the Ellis Lealgue.109 Ed Ilfrey donated 2 acres for school purposes on the north side of
Cedar Bayou Road.™™ The brick came from Mike Casey's brickyard just south of the school**
and the contract for construction of both buildings was awarded to W.G. Cook of Houston.'*?

When construction was completed in November, the Houston Chronicle reported;

Brick School for Cedar Bayou. The new school house has recently been completed
and accepted by the trustees. It was built of Cedar Bayou brick throughout, with all walls
plastered inside.*® There are two classrooms, with seating capacity about 48 each. There
is an auditorium above with a seating capacity of about 200. The classrooms are
furnished with the best single desks. The building has a vestibule with double doors to
enter into the hall. There are two cloak rooms below and above, with fixtures for dinner
buckets, etc. The vestibule has a cement floor, also cement steps to enter. This school
building was built at a cost of about $6,000.**

By the beginning of 1912, there were three schools in District 15: Cedar Bayou, Ellis
League, and Goose Creek, where 16-year-old Alice May Bullard had opened a school in the oil
field. Her father had provided a tent and desks and she taught 32 pupils for a year and was paid
$1.50 per month per student. When she got married the following year, the school moved to a
frame building her husband and some other men built nearby on property owned by Elizabeth

Tabb.t°

The Goose Creek school continued until January 1917.'° Miss Cora Lazenby was the
teacher in the 14'x18' building when it was shut down by an oil well blowout nearby spewing
rocks, sand, oil, water, and 15 million cubic feet of gas a day.**” But even had the well not blown
out, school would have shut down in March anyway, as did the Cedar Bayou school and fifteen
other schools in the county. The Harris County schools had run out of money because a
constitutional amendment allowing the school tax to be raised had failed to carry the previous
November.™® This created an emergency, so a bill was put to the Texas legislature to create
Cedar Bayou Independent School District. The whole area, even including today’s old Baytown,
was actually called the Cedar Bayou District at the time.*® The creation of an independent
school district would allow for taxes to be assessed locally and would remove the district from

county oversight.
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Cedar Bayou ISD was created by an act of the Texas Legislature on May 17, 1917,*%° due
to the explosive growth of the scholastic population at Goose Creek and the need to issue bonds
to pay for the schools and teachers. The new district included territory on both sides of Cedar
Bayou between Goose Creek stream and Cove School District No. 8. This embraced School
District No. 15 which had been created in 1884,'?! and included the Cedar Bayou school, the
Ellis League school, and the Goose Creek school in Harris County. The new district also
included the Cedar Bayou Colored school, Schilling School'® District No. 12 and Morgan
School District No. 13 in Chambers County. Interestingly, children attending the Schilling and
Morgan schools had been transferred to the Cedar Bayou School the previous September, so
transferring the district properties was a formality.?® The law removed all those schools from
county control and put them under Cedar Bayou ISD control.*** The preamble to the bill stated
(and pay special attention to the last phrase):

An Act creating the Cedar Bayou Independent School District in the counties of

Harris and Chambers, State of Texas; defining its boundaries and divesting the

bodies politic now controlling the same of the title of all property now held and

used for school purposes within the territory within this Act described and

investing the same in the Cedar Bayou Independent School District; providing for

the election of a Board of Trustees to manage and control the public free schools

within said district; authorizing said district to issue bonds to take up any

outstanding indebtedness against any of the common School Districts affected by

this act; and investing the said District with the rights, powers, privileges and

duties of a town and village incorporated for free school purposes only under the
General Laws; and declaring an emergency.'®

Even though Cedar Bayou ISD was created in 1917, it appears that the law was not
implemented at that time.*?® It called for an election of seven trustees but it appears that this
election was not held, because as late as 1919, there were still only three trustees. The Goose
Creek Gusher yearbook for the school year 1918-1919 named the School District Superintendent
as W.G. Smiley, who was Harris County Superintendent, and the Board of Trustees (A.W. Fayle,
Chairman; J. G. Martin, and W.R. Black) are the same men shown as Trustees of School District
No. 15. The teachers at Cedar Bayou*?’ and Ellis League schools were still on the Harris County
payroll and still reporting to the County Superintendent as late as the 1918-1919 school year'?
but Goose Creek teachers do not appear on the Harris County School District No. 15 payroll
after 1916." Names of Cedar Bayou teachers (including those in the new Goose Creek school)
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appear in a September 1918 list of county rural school teachers.”** Compulsory attendance

increased that year from 80 to 100 days per year.**!

On February 25, 1919, the Texas Legislature created Goose Creek Independent School
District with five trustees, and that was also declared an emergency.**? It took in Wooster School
District No. 38 and included territory on both sides of Goose Creek stream, extending north to

today's Interstate 10.

On July 21, 1919, the legislature amended the act creating Cedar Bayou ISD by
redrawing the boundaries to accommodate Goose Creek ISD and reducing the number of trustees
from seven to five.!®® The Schilling and Morgan schools were not mentioned because those
schools had already closed and their territory merged into Cedar Bayou ISD, leaving only Cedar
Bayou, Ellis League, and Cedar Bayou Colored schools in the district.

The following history of the Cedar Bayou School is excerpted from an essay written in
1992 by Tommy Martin Clayton (1930-2018),*** Cedar Bayou High School, Class of 1947.1%° He
wrote it in commemoration of the demise of Cedar Bayou Independent School District and Cedar
Bayou High School, and it was presented at a reunion of all surviving graduates in 1992. The
events from 1911 onward occurred within the lifetimes and memories of Mr. Clayton and other
alumni and teachers of the school. In addition to his personal memories, all details after 1919

were referenced from the Cedar Bayou ISD Trustee minutes books.

Mrs. Bessie Kilgore Busch (1900-1996)™*° received most of her education in the Cedar
Bayou Common School District. She went to school in La Porte her first two years and then
transferred to the school in the Masonic Lodge for one and a half years. The school then moved
to the new four room brick building at the present school location. Only the two ground floor
classrooms were used. The two vacant upstairs rooms were used for skating and other recreation.
Mrs. Busch lived in Chambers County near the south end of what is now Kilgore Road. To get to
school, she would scull a skiff across Cedar Bayou and then walk the two miles to school. There
was no road and she had to open and close the gates between each pasture. Occasionally her
father would take her in a boat as far as Ilfrey's Landing. In 1918 Mrs. Busch graduated at the top
of her class of one. She was the first person to complete all grades and is [in 1992] the oldest

living ex-student at 92 years of age.
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In 1992, Mrs. Louise Fowler Himes (1898-1995), was the oldest living ex-teacher of
Cedar Bayou Schools. She taught one year in 1918, the year Mrs. Busch graduated. She taught
primer (like kindergarten), first and second grades. Miss Bartlett taught grades 3, 4, and 5,
Eunice Mulkey taught grades 6 and 7, and Mr. Plummer, the Principal, taught grades 8, 9, and
10. The pay was $60.00 per month plus $3.00 per month for janitor duties, including building

fires.

The school board approved construction of a 30'x50' frame school building in 1923 and
in 1925 a bond election for $4,500 covered a new water well and some wooden buildings,
including a cafeteria at the Cedar Bayou campus. The Mothers Club was to run the Cafeteria.
Cora Denny, the Principal, in her 1912 report to the Harris County School Superintendent, had
noted "that a Mother's Club would add greatly to the educational as well as the social interests of
the community, for the school should be the sun with all the public affairs of the county

revolving around it. Mothers when organized wield a power which men do not wish to resist.”

L. G. Sanders was Superintendent from 1922-1925 followed by his brother J. A. Sanders.
In 1925 the school had 11 teachers, with salaries of $90 to $100 per month. The Ellis League
School had been closed the previous year. In 1926 this building was leased to the Shiloh Baptist
Church, represented by Sam Sjolander and T. B. Smith.

In 1927 Victoria Taylor was hired as the teacher for the colored school in Chambers
County at $70 per month. A $50,000 bond issue was passed for a new building, the "H" building
on the Cedar Bayou campus.™® A Ford truck was purchased to be equipped as a transportation
truck on the Morgan School line. An additional 3 acres adjoining the Cedar Bayou campus was
purchased from Ed llfrey for $1000. The Trustees voted that no Christmas trees were to be

erected in the buildings and the Christmas program was to be omitted.

In 1928 the district paid $200 to move one of the buildings from the site where the new
Cedar Bayou elementary school building would be built. It opened later that year and would
become known as the "H Building." Mr. Clifton was elected to drive the school truck on the Ellis
League line for $30 per month. Mr. Oliver was paid $40 per month to haul children in his part of

the district. Due to increase in pupils he had to equip a truck in place of his car.

In 1930 the district included 478 white and 46 colored pupils. Trustee Sam Sjolander's

motion to buy a new bus failed. It was voted to repair the old one. The trustees voted to put a
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governor on the bus so it would not go over 35 miles per hour. They also voted to deed the one

acre at Morgan School back to Mrs. Annie F. Busch.

In 1931 D. E. Thomas was hired as superintendent at $2,000 per year. Mrs. Frank Smith
and Miss Irma Casey were elected teachers. C. E. Donaho was science teacher and coach. H. H.
Harper's bid of $60 per month to drive the bus from the Ed McKinney home to the school was

accepted. Mrs. O. W. Fayle ran the cafeteria for $45 per month plus $30 for help.

In 1932, because of the financial condition, the trustees feared the school term might have
to be shortened. All high school lessons were to be increased by 20 per cent to cover the work.
All teachers except two agreed to a ten percent salary reduction. Mrs. Annie Wolfean loaned the
school $2000 to finish the 31-32 year. People were unable to pay taxes due to the Depression. It
was voted to close the cafeteria and require that all teachers live in the district. In 1932 Dr. E. E.
Oberholtzer, Superintendent of Schools in Houston, delivered the commencement address to four

graduates. He was later President of The University of Houston.

In 1933, after the death of his son, Ivy llfrey, Ed llfrey gave a 10-year no-cost lease on
three acres of his land to build a football stadium called lvy llfrey Field. It was matched by a 3-
acre purchase and opened in 1934.% The admission price to all games and programs was set at
10 and 15 cents. A $2,000 note to Gilbert Stoufflet was paid. A motion was passed to pay Mrs.

Frank Smith 56 cents for the balance of expenses for the grade program.

The budget for the 1933-1934 term was $22,584. The cafeteria was to reopen. A fee of
$7.50 per year was to be charged as tuition for all students over 21 years of age. Admissions
were increased to 10 and 25 cents. A telephone was added to the school office. It was voted to
cut off water to all houses on the school well, sell the windmill, and buy an electric pump. A

windshield wiper for the bus was approved. There were 18 students in the 1934 Senior Class.

In early 1934 G. L. Bennett was hired as superintendent. The minutes reflect: $1.75 paid
to Mr. Bennet to replace the battery in the bus, to forbid selling candy in the cafeteria, and charge
the janitor $2.00 for lights and radio provided he put in a smaller bulb. It was later decided to sell
candy under the control of the cafeteria manager and superintendent. Teachers pay was $900 per
year for high school and $810 per year for grade school. Money was borrowed from the Citizens
State Bank.
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In 1935 the budget was $25,230. This included paying fifty percent of the cost of football
shoes. T. P. Evans was principal and coach at a salary of $1,125 per year. Mrs. Westbrook was
Cafeteria Manager. An International bus was purchased from Wilburn Brothers for $2,063. The

Senior Class had fourteen members. Mrs. Verna Compton was elementary principal.

The 1936 budget was $26,257. A Home Economics department was started with Mrs.
Hairgrove as teacher. Lamar Oltman was coach. The Senior Class had 15 Members in 1936, 19
in 1937, 25 in 1938, and 16 in 1939. A. B. Lefevre was principal in 1938-1939 and Hanzel
Mangum was coach at a salary of $1,155. Most of the 14 teachers were paid $900 per year. Mrs.

Laura Going became cafeteria manager in 1938.

After being deemed unsafe by an engineering study,*® the 1911 brick building was
condemned in 1938 and was razed and replaced in 1939 with a new high school building.*** This
allowed the grade school to move into the "H" building. For the first time indoor plumbing was
installed and the outhouse facilities were demolished. There is probably some significance in the

fact that lights were added to the football field two years before the privies were replaced.

F. L. Muston became Superintendent in 1940, the 12 grade system was installed and Carl
M. Owens became high school principal. In 1944 the Junior High wing was added. R. W.
Akridge became Superintendent in 1946 and Mr. Barfield became high school principal. A new
elementary building and a new gymnasium were added in the 1948 - 50 period as enrollment

reached over one thousand students. Teacher Smith became elementary principal.

The first record of extracurricular activity is a basketball game between Goose Creek and
Cedar Bayou in 1919 which Goose Creek won 26 to 1. A football team was organized in 1925
and games were played in the Henry Pruett pasture on Kilgore Road. In 1933 an Athletic
Association was authorized with T. P. Evans and Mrs. Belle Smith as directors. However, the
Bear Athletic Association was dissolved by the trustees in 1934. The first District Championship

in football was won in 1932.

The 1932-1933 financial statement for athletics shows a net loss of $26 for football and
$9 for basketball. A Fall Carnival was staged each year to make up the deficit. Seven football
games and five basketball games were played with Texas City, Humble, Goose Creek, Pasadena,
Freeport, Webster, Galena Park, Crosby, La Porte, and Barbers Hill. Receipts ranged from $116
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for Goose Creek football to 80 cents for La Porte basketball. A total of $3.00 was paid to launder

football suits.

In 1937 and 1938 the football program developed under Coach Hanzel Mangum. In 1939
the Bears won their first bi-district championship under Ernie Lawrence. Because of the war
football was suspended in 1943. In 1944 Ray Trip coached the Bears to a winning season.
Hanzel Mangum returned in 1945 and in 1946 produced a district championship. The 1945
basketball team won district. The football field was moved to its present location in 1946. [For
sixteen years the stands had faced east and west next to the 1911 schoolhouse because that was
the only way they could fit the field on the campus. That schoolhouse was torn down in 1939, so
when they remodeled the stadium, they turned it 90 degrees and built it with lights to be ready in

time for the 1946 kickoff. A new field needed a new name so it was named Bayou Stadium.]**?

In 1947 Robert Barfield became football coach and Cotton Watkins basketball coach.
The golden years of athletics at Cedar Bayou followed in 1950-1953. In football, the Bears lost
no district games and compiled a 40 - 6 - 4 record. In 1951 they reached the quarterfinals, beaten
only by Giddings, the state champions. In 1952 they reached the semi-finals where they tied
Deer Park but lost on penetrations 3 to 2. The next year they reached the quarter-finals.

The boys basketball team won a district championship in 1950 and in 1953. The 1953
team produced 14 straight victories and a 22 - 2 record. The track team won district in 51, 52,

and 53 and regional in 50 and 54.

The "Blue Battalion" drum and bugle corps was started in 1936 under Teacher Smith and

the band started soon after. A girls basketball team started in 1949.

With the financial problems of the Depression and wartime shortages behind, the decade
of the 50's looked bright indeed. The struggle of the first 100 years for a top quality educational
system was now rewarded. The dream of the pioneers was realized as the frontier yielded to the
industrial promise of the mineral rich area. The wide open spaces of rural Cedar Bayou beckoned

the young families of nearby Baytown.

However, an ominous sign appeared on the horizon. A headline in the March 21, 1950
Baytown Sun said "Baytown Real Estate Board Urges Consolidation™. The larger entity wanted

to expand into the vacant prairies between the communities but they wanted to control the
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schools. A campaign began to convince the Cedar Bayou residents that the bountiful tax flow

from the Humble Refinery should be enjoyed by Cedar Bayou students.

A 1952 consolidation election failed 733 to 565 but the campaign continued. On March 6,
1954 Cedar Bayou approved consolidation 1072 to 654 and Goose Creek approved 3 to 1. The
45 member class of 1954 wrote the final chapter to the story of an independent school district at

Cedar Bayou.

It is unknown how many total students have attended school at Cedar Bayou. From 1936
through 1954 when the high school closed, 488 students graduated from the high school and they
have had an impact on the history of Baytown and the surrounding area. Among the best-known
are John M. Kilgore (1878-1965),143 Charles D. Massey (1879-1935),"* and Victoria Taylor
Walker (1905-2002).2°

John M. Kilgore was probably the area's best-known businessman. He built a thriving
shipyard on Cedar Bayou and for 20 years owned a brickyard where the locally-famous Cedar
Bayou bricks were made.'*® He also served as a school trustee in Cedar Bayou from August 1915

to April 1940, including several terms as President of the Cedar Bayou ISD school board.**’

Charles D. Massey served as Harris County Commissioner, Precinct 3. He is best known
for improvements in transportation in eastern Harris County. The Hog Island Morgan Point Ferry

148

was named for him.”™ He also served on the Cedar Bayou ISD school board in the 1920s.

Victoria Taylor Walker, MEd grew up in the Colored community on the Chambers
County side of Cedar Bayou. She began teaching at the Cedar Bayou Colored School in 1933
and took summer classes at Prairie View A&M. She later earned a Master of Education degree
from Texas Southern University in 1952. The following year, the school where she taught was
named for her. She had a long career as a teacher in the Cedar Bayou ISD and Goose Creek

149

Consolidated ISD, retiring in 1971,”" and when a new Goose Creek Consolidated ISD

elementary school opened in 2007, it was named Victoria Walker Elernentary.150

From 1954 Onwards

On March 7, 1954, voters at Goose Creek and Cedar Bayou approved consolidation of

the two school districts as Goose Creek Consolidated Independent School District.*>* The 1954
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graduating class was the last at Cedar Bayou High School and the high school students
transferred to Robert E. Lee High School in Baytown which, at the time, was the only white high
school in the district. The old high school building at Cedar Bayou became the new home to
Cedar Bayou Junior High.®* In 1955, the city of Baytown annexed the unincorporated town of
Cedar Bayou'®® and the city began expanding northward. When Goose Creek Consolidated ISD
replaced Cedar Bayou Elementary School in 1956, it was not built on the Cedar Bayou campus.
It was named James Bowie Elementary,™* and for the first time since 1876, there was not an
elementary school named Cedar Bayou.

After the elementary school closed, grades 7-9 of Cedar Bayou Junior High School were
the only classes taught on the campus. In 1964, Victoria Walker Elementary School for Colored
children closed and the students, as well as Victoria Walker herself, were transferred to George
Washington Carver School in Baytown. Two years later, Goose Creek Consolidated ISD
desegregated the schools and Victoria Walker was transferred to Stephen F. Austin Elementary
School, becoming the first Black teacher in the formerly all-white school. When Ross Sterling
High School opened in 1966, the district underwent another shuffle. Sixth grade was moved to
Junior School and ninth grade was moved to high school.

Baytown's population continued to increase and, in September 1990, voters passed a $39
million bond issue with $2.9 million going to add 30 classrooms at Cedar Bayou Junior
School.* Soon after classes began in the new sixth grade wing, the old "H" and "L" buildings
were torn down.*®® Six years later, in May 1999, Baytonians voted on another bond election, this
time for $120 million.”" Part of the package was $23.1 million for a new Cedar Bayou Junior

School.**® Initially turned down,**°

it was back on the ballot in October, and this time it passed
by a 2-1 margin.*®® Bids were requested in March, 2001 and ground was broken in
September.'®* Demolition of the 1938 high school building began as construction of the new
school was nearing completion and on August 19", 2002 the doors opened for classes.'®® The

new athletic facilities including the track and practice field were completed in late 2021.1%*

From the beginning of the school in the Masonic Lodge in 1876 through the purchase of
two acres in 1911, the school at Cedar Bayou today'®® has grown more than ten-fold to a 24-acre
campus'®® where the staff and faculty provide a quality junior school education for more than
1,000 students.*®’
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I11. SIGNIFICANCE

The earliest known school in the Cedar Bayou district was in 1850. At the time, the
Justice Precinct extended from Cedar Bayou to the San Jacinto River and the precinct voting
place from 1850 to 1852 was shown as the Cedar Bayou School House. The school was held in
the Methodist church located at Midway (near today's ExxonMobil docks) and was destroyed in
the 1854 hurricane. The next known school, called Harmony Grove, began in 1859 by Mr. and
Mrs. Kemp. They were followed by C. C. Preston, who ran the school until 1866. Beginning
about 1868, Linna Gaillard taught a school on her family's property at the mouth of Goose
Creek.

Until 1876, there is no record of a common school in the Christian Smith League,
although there was talk about establishing one in 1871. The 1876 Texas Constitution established
districts called "School Communities." Cedar Bayou School Community No. 5 was formed in
1876 and, for 35 years, classes were held on the ground floor of the Cedar Bayou Masonic
Lodge. About 47 students may have been enrolled that first year. In 1884 a new state law for
schools passed and Cedar Bayou School became part of Harris County School District No. 15,
along with Goose Creek School. African American children living in the area attended the Cedar
Bayou Colored School in Chambers County that was established sometime after 1893.

In 1911, a bond election was approved for $8,000 to erect two brick school houses, one at
the town of Cedar Bayou and one in the George Ellis League, two miles north. Edward Ilfrey
donated two acres of land on Cedar Bayou Road at the location of today's school, and Mike
Casey's brick yard on Cedar Bayou just to the south supplied the bricks. In 1917, Cedar Bayou
Independent School District was formed, combining Harris County District 15 with two small
districts in Chambers County, including the Cedar Bayou Colored School.

A new elementary school was built in 1928 and after the 1911 building was condemned
in 1938, that building was replaced by a brick building constructed with bricks made at school
trustee John Kilgore's Cedar Bayou brick plant.

Cedar Bayou High School was in session until Cedar Bayou ISD consolidated with
Goose Creek ISD in 1954. From the beginning of the school in the Masonic Lodge in 1876
through the purchase of two acres in 1911, the school at Cedar Bayou has grown more than ten-
fold to a 24-acre campus and today provides a quality Junior School education for more than
1,000 students.

The Schools at Cedar Bayou 18 © Chuck Chandler
May 3, 2023 Harris County Historical Commission



IV. REFERENCES

Cedar Bayou Junior School; 2610 E Elvinta St, Baytown, TX 77520, Jerelan Kannady, Principal.

The Methodist Church at Cedar Bayou, 1844-1886, by Chuck Chandler. Published in the
Heritage Journal, an annual publication of the Texas United Methodist Historical Society.
Volume 17, 2021, p54.

History of the Schools at Cedar Bayou, 1845-1954, by Tommy Clayton. 1992. Held by Sterling
Municipal Public Library.

Quarterly Conference Minutes of the San Jacinto Methodist Circuit, 1853-1871. (download to
read)

Development of Education in Texas, by Frederick Eby. Macmillan Co., New York, 1925.

Pioneer Sketches, Cedar Point to San Jacinto, by the Robert E. Lee Library Club, 1931. On file
at the Baytown History Museum.

Director's School Record for Harris County, 1876, Part 1, Part 2, Part 3 (accessed at Harris
County Archives).

Minutes of the Trustees Meetings of Cedar Bayou Independent School District, 1919-1954. Held
by Goose Creek Consolidated Independent School District, 4544 Interstate 10 East, Baytown,
Texas 77521. 281.420.4800. Mailing Address: P.O. Box 30, Baytown, Texas 77522. GCCISD
webpage: http://www.gccisd.net/

The Baytown Sun was founded in Goose Creek, Texas, as the weekly publication, Goose Creek
Gasser, in 1919. In 1949 to better identify with the new community it served, the paper was
given its current name,